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ARCHAEOLOGICAL WORK ON TH™ SITy. Gr Tlie. FORMER
PURIMACHOS FIRE CtMENT WORKS, WATERLOO ROAD,
ST PHILLIPS, BRISTOL, 2007 2007

By Timothy * t..gman

With contributions from Kevin Potter, Lorrain Higbee,

qather Hirons,

Reg Jackson, Julie Jones and Dr. David Starley

SUMMARY

Archaeological building recording and excavation on the
site of the former Purimachos Fire Cement Works (centred
on NGR ST 60040 6  10), on land between West Street and
Waterloo Road in Bristol, recorded evidence of medieval
and post-medieval cultivation, 17th —19th century boundary
walls, the site of a late 18th to mid-19th century cemetery,
the remains of various 18th/19th century cottages and
terraced houses, and 19th/20th century industrial premises.
The fieldwork comprised a photographic survey of the
Purimachos Fire Cement Factory prior to its demolition,
excavation of four discrete 1S where new build was
proposed, and a watching brief during the initial groundwork
associated with the subsequent residential redevelopment.
The analyses of the key assemblages of artefacts and
environmental material from the medieval period onwards
are included in this report.

IN . RODUCTION

Bristol and Region Archaeological Services (BaRAS)
was commissioned by Linden Homes Western Limited
to undertake assessment and archaeological fieldwork
on land formerly occupied by the Purimachos Cement
Works (Fig. 1), prior to the construction of 97 residential
units and associated work. The archaeological work
which is the subject of this report, resulted largely from
the findings of an earlier archaeological evaluation on
the site in 2005 (Lankstead 2005) which showed that
Williams’s Burial Ground, which was in use from 1793
to 1854, remained substantially undisturbed beneath the
site. In addition, a well-stratified sequence of deposits
from the natural geology through a series of garden soils
to evidence of later industrial activity were also recorded,
which were shown to date from the medieval period to
the 20th century

. ..e site (centred on NGR ST 60040 73260) is situated
in the Bristol suburb of St Philips, approximately 1.25km
(0.7 mile) east of the city centre. It was bounded southwest
by Waterloo Place, southeast by Waterloo Road, northwest
by the rear of ¢« iercial premises (Nos. 60-80) on West
Street, northeast by the rear of commercial premises on
Trinity Street and east by Trinity Street itself. It sits at
approximately the 18m aOD contour.

The archive of records and finds from the building
survey, excavations and watching brief have been deposited
with Bristol Museums Galleries and Archives under
accession number BRSMG 2007/40.

The Historical and Archaeological Background

The site lies within the suburb of St Philips in the ancient
parish of SS Philip & Jacob Without, in the hundred of
Barton Regis, beyond the east gate (Lawford’s Gate) and
therefore just outside the medieval town of Bristol.

Development to the east of Bristol Castle, in the vicinity
of Old Market Street, had certainly occurred by the late
12th or early 13th century suggesting that the area around
West Street was developed by the early medieval period
(Lankstead 2005). Medieval documentary evidence for the
area beyond Lawford’s Gate indicates that property there
was divided between several landowners, including the
Crown, the Abbey of St Augustine and to St Marks Hospital
(King 2003). No medieval structures or features were
recorded during an archaeological evaluation on the site in
2005 = ead 2005), but medieval pottery and glazed
ceramic roof tiles were present in a deposit overlying the
natural Mercia Mudstone.

The earliest cartographic evidence for the area appears
on a map of Kingswood Chase dating from 1610. The map
clearly names ‘Lawford’s Gate’' and ‘Gloucester Lane’.
Although [ondon Road (West Street) is not named it is
likely to be the road that is shown extending directly east
from Lawford’s Gate.

The West Street area saw much fighting and destruction
during the Civil War (1642-7) due to its proximity to
Lawford’s Gate and Outworks. The city fell to Royalist
forces led by Prince Rupert (1619-82) in July 1643 and
was retaken by a Parliamentarian army under General Sir
...omas Fairfax (1612-71) in September 1645 (Heaton
2003).

The first detailed survey to show the site is J. Millerd’s
plan of 1673 (Fig. 2). It shows a large square formal garden
(14”7"4) on the west side of the site, belonging to one of the
houses on West Street. The rest of the site was occupied by
gardens or open land. The site would remain much the same
until the late eighteenth century. Trenches 5 and 6, excavated
during the 2005 archaeological evaluation (Lankstead 2005),
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Table 3 Listings for Trinity Street and Waterloo Road from Kelly’s Directory of Bristol of 1964

By 1951 one of the mid-19th-century terraced houses
on Waterloo Place (No.12) had been demolished as part
of the post-war scheme of city le slum clearance. The
‘Fire Cement Works’ operated by Purimachos Ltd occupied
buildings at the centre of the site while a flour store
(‘Warehouse’), a British Railways (Railway Ei 1eering
Dept.) ‘Storage Depot’ and the terraced houses (INos. 6-28)
on Trinity Street occupied the remainder of the site.

The district of Newtown, which included those properties
fronting on Trinity Street, and is delineated by Trinity Street
to the west, north by Clarence Road and east by Barrow
Road, was included in the post-war city-wide programme of
slum clearance. The district was originally developed from
the early 1850°s when several streets of terraced houses,
including Trinity Street, Church Street, Catherine Street and
Regent Street, were laid out. After 1945 the city council
decided to demolish all the terraced houses and replace
them with a mix of modem terraced housing and multi-
storey blocks of fiats. This progr: : of redevelopment has
resulted in the modern suburb being devoid of any buildings
pre-dating the early 1970’s.

The programme of demolishing condemned housing,
and the accompanying re-housing of residents, across the
locality had started by the mid 1950’s, as is evidenced by
the gradual clearance of the terraced houses on Waterloo
Place, but it took more than a decade before Trinity Street
was directly affected. Indeed, properties on the west side of
Trinity Street (Nos. ¢  38) continued to be listed in Kelly’s
Directory as late as 1964,

The entry for Trinity Street in the 1966 edition of
Kelly’s Directory of Bristol, merely ‘TRINITY STREET,
NEWTOWN (2) Clarence Road to Regent Street ----Trinity
Place intersects ---- Church Street intersects ---- here
cross over ---- Kenilworth Place intersects----’, remained
unaltered up to and including the 1968-69 edition. The lack
of a mention of individual properties either side of the street
probably indicates that houses on Trinity Street were by then

either empty, were in the process of being demolished, had
been demolished or a combination of all th

While the 1972 Edition O. S. map, revised in 1971,
shows Nos. 6,8 & 10 Trinity Street as still extant, the 1972
edition of Kelly’s Directory no longer includes a listing for
‘Trinity Street, Newtown (2)’, all the houses (presumably)
having been demolished by then. The only occupied premises
within the study area were the three commercial premises
then listed on Waterloo Road. By 1988 the Purimachos
factory [ " lings occupied the entire application area.

The Building Recording
By ™" vin Potter

Buildings on the site were a mix of styles and construction
materials, dating largely from the 19th and 20th century, with
some elements from the 18th century (Fig. 5). The largest
of these was a modern steel framed warehouse located on
the eastern side of the site, having a single-span roof with
corrugated asbestos.

The central area of the factory was occupied by a single-
storey triple-bay building, the south-west bay raised in
height to house a second floor. Walls were chiefly Pennant
sandstone that contained substantial portions rebuilt in brick.
The southwest and central bays contained the principal
factory works, including the industrial machinery for the
production of fire cement. The northeastern bay was utilised
as a ‘Finished Goods Warehouse’ or “Trading (delivery)
Bay’. The factory offices were housed in a two-storey brick
building which had a tiled hipped roof and stood next to
Waterloo Road at the front of the works. The building was
bounded northeast by a small enclosed courtyard, with gated
access to Waterloo Road. A red brick, single-storey structure
stood on the southwest side of the works creating an extra
bay (Wc © Bay 1), parallel with those of the mr *~ works. It
was ¢ cted, at its northern end, to a single storey brick
building which had a tiled, pitched roof.
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and it is likely that it was sub-circular in shape. It contained
a single fill (4052) of dark brown loamy soil.

Recorded in an S-facing section, to the north of
wall 4000, were a succession of dump layers (see Fig.
12) apparently deposited against wall 4009 in the years
following its construction in the second half of the 18th
century. The first of these, sealing the fill of construction cut
4030, was a 0.83m deep layer of orange brown sand (4025),
which produced sherds of medieval and post-medieval
pottery. Overlying the previous deposit was a 0.15m deep
layer of fragments of Pennant sandstone in a matrix of
slightly orange brown sand (4"~7). 7"~ horizon produced
additional post-medieval material in the form of 2 sherds of
pottery and some glass fragments. In turn, sealing the latter
context was a 0.4m thick deposit of mottled orange and light
brown ¢ = 4026

Period 4

Phase 1: Early 19th century

Wall 4035 may have been the north side-wall of a
large fireplace abutting the rear-wall (4009) within the
southe. st dwelling, was constructed on top of the fill
of feature 4085. Similarly, wall 4037 was also orientated
E-W  1together they formed the side-walls of a fireplace
in dwelling 2, the southernmost of the two terraced cottages
excavated in this area. The latter wall (4037) was also
constructed using randomly coursed Pennant sandstone
masonry bonded with lime mortar. Contemporary with
the latter two features was rectangular cut feature 4006. It
contained two fills, the first being composed of laid blocks
of Pennant sandstone forming a hearth or fire-box (4005)
within the fireplace. That feature was sealed beneath a
thin layer of charcoal rich silty sand (4004) that produced
no finds other than some clinker-type, undiagnostic iron
working slag.

To the east of wall 4009, truncating a layer of orange
brown sand (4014, possibly same as 4010), was feature
4008 a rectangular-shaped cut 0.4m deep. It contained three
fills (4007, 4018 and 4019) which contained that contained
stem fragments of probably 19th century clay tobacco
pipe and several fragments (276g) of very dense, clinkery
smithing hearth bottom. The latter deposit was sealed by a
layer composed of large pieces of Pennant sandstone (4018).
Forming the upper fill was a fairly compact layer of mid
greyish brown sandy silt (4007), which included several
large blocks of Pennant sandstone. It seems possible that
these dumps of stone may have formed the base/foundation
of an external chimney stack belonging to the fireplace on
the other (west) side of the wall, which was built abutting
the east-fa ~  elevation of wall 4009.

Close to the northern limit of this area was recorded a
rectangular brick feature (4011) abutting the east elevation
of wall 4009. The presence of a narrow Pennant sandstone
wall (4050) abutting the opposite side of the wall, which
closely resembled walls 4035 and 40. ., suggests that it
may be the base of a chimney stack belonging to a fireplace

erected against the east wall of dwelling 1, sometime during
the first half of the 19th century. S¢ ' 7y the latter brick
feature (4011) was a spread of compact greyish black gritty,
sandy soil (4015

Truncating soil horizon 4016 was linear (E-W orientated)
cut feature 4066, which was the construction trench for wall
4050. Truncating the latter deposit was a curvilinear feature
(4034) measuring 2.8m long (E-W) by 0.9m wide by 0.53m
deep (not bottomed) that contained a single fill, specifically
deposit 4033, dark grey/black clayey sand. Finds consisted
of 4 stem fragn s of probably 19th century clay tobacco
pipe.

Generally, the surviving structural rem: ©  of dwelling
1 were more fragmentary than its neighbour. Whilst the
back-wall (4009) of the dwelling was fairly intact only a
short section of the front-wall (4001) survived and only the
upper course of surviving stonework was exposed. Built
of Pennant sandstone and brick, measuring 1.22m long
by 0.”" wide, it was bonded with a light grey coloured
lime mortar, suggesting that it was either built or was
substantially rebuilt in the 19th century. Purportedly filling
a cut feature at the southern limit of wall 4001, fill 4073
was composed of dark brown/black sandy clay containing
frequent flecks of charcoal and dark grey mortar. It was
the primary fill of an N-S orientated linear feature (4072),
possibly the construction cut for wall 4001. To the west of
wall 4001 was an unexcavated spread composed of fairly
loosely compacted dark greyish brown sandy silty soil
(4017). It included frequent flecks of charcoal and mortar.

-.1E FINDS

Medieval and Post-Medieval Pottery
By Reg Jackson

Medieval
The excavation produced 96 sherds of medi __ pottery,
* ugh almost all of these were residual in post-medieval
or later contexts. The small and very abraded nature of
most of the sherds suggests exposure to the type of damage
caused in well-worked agricultural or garden soils. On
pottery evidence alone, only eight contexts might be
medieval. However, the dating of these is difficult as they
contained only a few  dieval sherds and, in s cases,
an occasional single small sherd of post-medieval pottery
which may or may not be intrusive.

The medieval pottery types present were all regionally
produced wares: Mintey ware (Bristol Pottery Type BPT18),
Ham Green olazed ware (BPT26, Ham Green unglazed
redware (L. ..2), Bath A fabric (BPT46), Bristol/Redcliffe
ware (BPT72) and Malvern Chase medieval glazed ware
(BPT168). Their dates range from the 12th century to the
end of the 14th century. Note: BPT = Bristol Pottery Type
fabric series number.















~n

Bristol and Avon Archaeology 27

Context Sample Slag type

10U
1008
1008
1008
2021

2023
2023

2046

2046

2046

2046

2046

2046

2046

2046

2073

2086

2090

2092

2092

2092

2114

2114

2114
2114

2114

2114

2114
2114

Nn

8]

flake hammerscale
iron concretion
smithing hearth
bottom
undiagnostic iron
working slag
undiagnostic iron
working slag
iron concretion
undiagnostic iron
working s’

flake hammerscale
& spheroidal
hammerscale
iron retion
smithing hearth
bottom

smithing hearth
bottom

smithing hearth
bottom

smithing hearth
bottom
undiagnostic iron
working slag
undiagnostic iron
working slag
smithing hearth
bottom

undiagnostic iron
working slag
undiagnostic iron
working slag

flake hammerscale

undiagnostic iron
working slag

undiagnostic iron
working slag
ferruginous
concretion

flake hammerscale
& spheroidal
hammerscale

iron concretion
smi g hearth
bottom
undiagnostic iron
working slag
vitrifies hearth
lining

slag coated stone
undiagnostic iron
working slag

Weight(g) Comments

307
41

1273

119

54
34

72
249

322

338

1356

85

150

43

215

26

4660

31
285

1541

20

25
21

lump / bar
50 x 40 x [Smm

clinkery
with attached
hammerscale

Fe lump
clinkery

80x60x4™
110 x 80 x 40mm
85 x 85 x 55mm
65 x 45 x 20mm

very clinkery with
high Fe content

clin
90 x 90 x 30mm
clin _ with

attached flake
hammerscale

very clinkery with
high Fe content,
attached flake
hammerscale

clinkery

60% flake
hammerscale,
10%s dal
hammerscaie

Fe lump

100 x 85 x 30mm

clinkery

Context mterpretation (BARAS)

Period
bonding tor wail 1UU3 3
3
3
3
secondary fill of ditch 2020 1
primary fill of ditch 2020 l
1
either dumped after construction of wall 2044 or 3
may be part of make-up for second mortar surface
2047.
3
3
3
3
3
3
3

fill of linear cut 2074: Initially thought to be a drain 4
but no pipe/structure survives. Robber trench? No
evidence of any wall though.

excavator thought it to be a rain gully, could be root 4
hole, animal burrow?
same as 2040/41: naturally occurring soil/ 2

cultivation soil. Very well sorted suggesting gradual
low-action deposition. pot appeared to be mostly
post-med with some residual med. 2043 below was
similar but contained just med pot(?). Pre-dates all
buildings found on site.

what’s the relationship with 2044/2095? seems to 3
be cut by construction cut (2098) of wall 2044.

fill of cut 2116: rubbish pit filled by industrial waste 4
material 2117and mortar dump 2119. Prob dug
similar time as pit2116. may in fact be period 3










LONGMAN: WORK ON THE SITE OF THE FORMER PURIMACHOS FIRE CEMENT WORKS

Table 10 Results of environmental assessment of bulk samples.

Key
¢ = charred; d = dry; m = mineralised
Scale of abunda oc  )}9; freq = 10-49; abund = 50-100
P remains Common name Habitat
ct. Aethusa cynapium Fool’s Parsley C
Bromus Brome CDh
Carex Sedge GM
Chenopodium hybridum Maple-leaved

Goosefoot CD
Conium maculatum Hemlock BW
Corylus avellana Hazel W
Fallopia convolvulus Black-bindweed CD
Malus Apple HSW#

Mercurialis annua Annual Mercury  CD

and one partial skeleton. Cattle and sheep/goat bones are
relatively common amongst the identifiable bones, other
species include pig, horse, dog, cat, rat, chicken and small
bird (Turdid or Passerine). The complete skeleton of an
adult dog was recovered from (4076). This individual
has an estimated shoul  height of only 13cm (after
Harcourt 1979) and would be classified as a toy dog by
modern standards. The animal was probably a pet buried
in the back garden of the property. The partial skeleton of
an adult chicken was recovered from (3027); the remains
probably represent kitchen or table waste from a whole
roast carcass.

Context Sample Sample Float Sample Plantr ins Other remains

size size (ml) composition
(litres/kg)

2001 1 15/9.6 100 50% coke/ cf. Aethusa cynapium (m) occ 75+ fragments small mammal
1 50% Bromus (m) occ  bone/fish vertebrae/fine fish bones
plant macros Carex (d) occ Fly pupae (m) abund

Corylus avellana (c) occ Fly pupae/beetle

Fallopia convolvulus (d) occ fragments (d) oce
Malus sylvestris (m) oce

Mercurialis annua (d) freq

Poaceae (m) occ

Rubus Glandulosus (d) 1000’s

Sambucus nigra (d) abund

Triticum (m) occ

Vitis vinifera (dm) occ

1008 2 32/23.8 300 100% coke/ Mercurialis annua (d) freq Charcoal frags oce
clinker Rubus Glandulosus (d) oce

Sambucus nigra (d) occ

3019 3 15/17.6 24 70% coke/ Conium maculatum (d) oce
clinker; 30% Mercurialis annua (d) freq
modern roots  Sambucus nigra (d) oce

Charcoal frags occ

4004 4 25/14.5 625 100% coke/ Conium maculatum (d) rare
clinker/charcoal

2114 5 15/242 120 100% coke/ Chenopodium hybridum (d) occ
clinker Mercurialis annua (d) occ

Rubus Glandulosus (d) occ
Sambucus nigra (d) oce

2117 6 20/156 1220 100% coke/ None

clinkar

~-

Poaceae Grass G
Rubus Glandulosus Blackberry DHSW
Sambucus nigra Elder HSWn
Triticum Wheat #

Vitis vinifera Grape #
Hab" -

B. Bankside; C: Cultivated/Arable;

D: Disturbed; G: Grassland; H: Hedgerow;

M: Marsh; P: Ponds, ditches — stagnant/slow flowing water;
R: Rivers, streams; S: Scrub; W: Woodland

n: nitrogen rich soils; w: wet/damp soils;
# cultivated plant/of economic importance

Phase 5 — Modern (Late 19th/early 20th-century to present)
Thirty-three bones and two partial skeletons were recovered.
Identified bones include a small number of cattle, sheep/
goat, dog, cat and rabbit. The two partial skeletons are both
from layers; they include the remains of an adult cat from
(3064) and a rabbit from (3066). The rabbit is relatively
large in comparison to wild rabbits and might be from a
domestic breed kept as a pet.

Unstratified
One hundred and nineteen bone fragments and two partial
skeletons were recovered. ldentified fragments include a
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¢ ” ned the presence of in-situ human remains there.
However, survi' * | parts of the western boundary wall of
the cemetery were identified and recorded by excavation in
Area 1, while the building survey confirmed that the western
wall of ‘Works Bay 2’ stood on the line of the former eastern
boundary wall of the cemetery. Surviving foundations
belonging to this wall were also noted during the watching
brief

Documentary evidence has indicated the presence of
‘William Bobbett, baker, Lower West Street’ in commercial
premises that included part of the site (Mathews 1820).
Rows of two-storey terraced houses were built on ..inity
Street (Albany Crescent) and Waterloo Place between 1847
and 1854.

A row of terraced houses had been t ~ on the east
side of Waterloo Place (Nos. 12-23) by 1854, their yards
t  ing-on to the burial ground, while another terrace of
houses (Nos. 6 Albany Crescent) was erected on the
west side of Trinity Street. The houses on Waterloo Place
were demolished by 1960 as part of a post-war city-wide
slum clearance scheme. No trace of the terraced houses on
Waterloo Street was recorded in Area 1, probably largely
due to considerable ground disturbance caused by the
construction of a warehouse  »art of the site in the 1980’s,
however, several walls, drains and other features associated
with Nos. 8 & 10 Albany Crescent were recorded in Area 3,
next to Trinity Street, as well as walls and a floor belonging
to an early 19th century building that stood within the
neighbouring timber yard.

The closure of Williams’s Burial Ground in 1854 was
followed by redevelopment of the cemetery plot by 1883.

By 1866 ‘John Winter Bobbett, baker and cornfactor’

occupied the co  zrcial premises at Nos. 50 & 51 (later
No. 74) West Street. Evidence of major alterations to
Fears’ Buildings during this period occurs in Area 2 in the
form of two subterranean chambers — the construction of
brick-vaulted cellars or cess-pits beneath the buildings,
suggesting conversion of earlier possible industrial premises
to residential dwellings. This possibility is also supported by
the addition to the dwellings (1 & 2), recorded in Area
4, of fireplaces and leys i ing the eastern exterior
wall (4009) of Fear’s Buildings.

By the 1890’s, other than the terraced houses on
Waterloo Place, Trinity Street and Fear’s Buildings, the site
was occupied by, and subdivided between, three commercial
premises — Henry Naish & Sons Ltd, Bacon Curers, occupied
buil = s on the site of the earlier burial ground — J. W.
Bobbett & Sons, Corn and Flour Wholesalers, occupied
a storehouse in the centre of the study area — '~ John
Richards,™ ber Merchant, had a sawmill and outbuildings
at the eastern end of the site.

Purimachos Fire Cement Company Limited first acquired
premises on the site in 1923, and over the subsequent
decades the company gradually acquired neighbouring
premises as the business expanded. Fear’s Buildings
were demolished sometime between 1934 and 1944 and
an adjoining warehouse at the rear of 78 West Street was
subsequently extended across the plot fc  erly occupied

by those dwellings. The terraced houses on Waterloo Place
were demolished sometime between 1956-60, while the
terraced houses on Trinity Street had been demolished by
the early 1970’s, and by 1988 Purimachos factory buildings
occupied much of the site.
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Longman, T J, 2008 A Post-Excavation Assessment Report on
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of the later church, or somewhere else entirely. There may
have been an outpost of m from the Priory, and/or the
Priory may have paid for a priest. All of these things remain
speculation in the absence of any conclusive evidence:
documentary or archaeological.

In fact, apart from one Bronze Age cremation urn (Young
and Hume 2011) and some Roman metalworking (Young
2010), there is little evidence for anything in Stanton Drew
between the time of the stone monuments and the thirteenth
century, hence the importance of the medieval building
excavated by Jodie Lewis. It is conceivable the buil ©  had
a religious function but, with the weight of expert opinion
against it, this seems wishful thinking and it is more likely
to have had an agricultural purpose. The pond in Pool
Close may have been dug by monks, but it could be also be
relatively modern or Roman, or may even be a c letely
natural phenomenon. Investigation of the pond, perhaps by
augering, might reveal whether or how it constructed
and, if especially fortunate, provides us with a date.

Dorothy Owen wrote that ‘it is very rare indeed to
discover a precise, or even an approximate, date, for the
foundation of any parish church or chapel known to have
been in existence before 1100’ (Owen 197€,..,, so we
should not be surprised that establishing the beginnings of
the Stanton Drew church has proved so elusive.
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Martyr — and arguably Stow on the Wold’s Edward — all were
revered martyrs, with medieval cults at the sites in question.

Bristol’s stow

If,asIs se, at or by Bristol there was a place ‘Stow’,
and this an ecclesiastical pilgrimage site, then — as with
Burstow and the towns called Stow - its stow must have
had an identifiable geographical locus.

Higgins got there before me (partially through being
aware of Bristol’s folklore), in identifying College Green.
My own tardy reasoning went as follows. The medieval city
commanded rich grazing marshes at the confluence of the
rivers Avon and Frome, operated as the effective head of
maritime navigation of the Avon, and was the river’s first
bridging point: a classic medieval port site, in other words.
Regarding stow, the candidate locations (given my limited
knowledge of Bristol’s archaeology) seem to me, adopting
Blair’s (1995) archetypical ‘promontory’ pagan temple site
criteria, four. Namely, the four promontories or hillocks of
the city site itself, or Redcliffe, or Bedminster, or College
Green. Any of these — or even the cluster as a whole — could
be expected to be a river-confluence ‘island’ or ‘promontory’
pagan sacred site of the type described by Blair, blessing
and controlling the grazing n ° s, mariners and the
tides. Arguably, at least one of these ‘nences matured
subsequently into a Christian stow. I would read such sites
as British, and only subsequently ‘Anglo-Saxon’. (An
archetypical example would be the promontory between
the Thames and Medway estuaries, carrying the parishes of
Hoo, a monastery known from 697 AD, and Halstow, ‘holy
stow ’ — one of only two instances of stow in Kent).

Higgins identified Bristol’s missing stow to be College
G . Correctly, [ suggest. The sixteenth century historian
William Camden (or rather Holland his translator from the
Latin, 1610) described the place as follows:

‘...at Frome Gate there riseth an high hill, with a steepe and
crooked ascent, so as it is painefull to goe up unto it: From
whence ye have a most faire and goodly prospect to the Citie
and haven underneath. This hill in the very top and pitch
thereof, spreadeth presently into a large greene and even
plaine, {on] which.... stands a pulpit of Stone, and a Chapell,
wherein (by report) lieth enterred Jordan the companion of
Augustine the Englishmens Apostle.’

Clearly a site more impressive than today; yet still today
it carries the now cathedral of St. Augustine of Canterbury
(Dickinson 1976), and formerly beside it the church of
St. Augustine the Less, the chapel of St. Jordan but also a
shrine to St. Clement patron saint of mariners. This perhaps,
as Bristol folklore avers, was the place where Augustine
after the year 600 met but ultimately was spurned by ‘seven
Welsh bishops’ as recorded by Bede (2,2). Certainly, the
lower Avon lay on the then frontier between the Hwicce
of Worcestershire and Gloucestershire (see Hooke, 1985)
and the West Saxons: thus matching the setting Bede gives
for the location he names simply ‘Augustine’s Oak’, much
searched for since (see for example Eagles 2003). In all
likelihood the hill of College Green — or what was a hill,

before the bridge over Frog Lane was built — was our stow: a
traditional pagan site adapted by early Christians as a council
meeting-place. And as Higgins notes, the ninth century Old
English version of Bede does use ‘sfowe’ in describing
A _stine’s Oak. Yet that Augustine’s Oak / College Green
might have been named Stow, and that this might explain
Bristol’s own — duplex — name? Well, that may be new. Or
was, until Higgins pointed it out.

Brycg

The ‘Bridge’ in Bristol is straightforward. Bristol Bridge
crosses the Avon. This arguably is associated with a
defended frontier river bridge, in royal Mercian attempts at
securing strategic frontier forts in the eighth century (see:
Haslem 1987; Manco 2009).

Very possibly, Bristol originally was simply called
Bridge (Brycg ). Compare in this regard the evolution of the
central-place names Bridgenorth (Brug, 1156; Brugg’ Norht,
1282, ‘north bridge’), Bridgewater (Brugie, Domesday
Book; Brigewaltier, 1194, ‘bridge of Walter’) and Bridge
(Brygge, Domesday Monachorum) on Watling Street
between Canterbury and Dover. The fort city of Bristol, if
as I suggest initially named Brycg, would only subsequently
have been modified by reference to the postulated adjacent
hill called Stow. Incidental evidence that the format ‘Bridge-
Stow’ may be relatively late is suggested by the late date of
the first surviving record: Brycg stow (1052 and 1063 AD;
Anglo-Saxon Chronicle, Worcester manuscript; Swanton
2000). Renaming perhaps was necessary to distinguish the
place from both Bridgewater and from Stow on the Wold,
in the adjacent counties of Somerset and Gloucestershire.
Corroborative evidence that such name-development would
not be locally unique is given by these same names, Brug /
Bridgewater and Stowe Sancti Edwardi / Stow on the Wold.

Wider Bristol Channel parallels

S" 7 r convolutions can be seen to attend the names of
Chepstow and Newport, Gwent. Indeed, these last two
port-towns perhaps offer wider parallels to the post-Roman
situation of Bristol. Both, like Bristol, seem likely once to
have been called Stow.

If one wonders whether marine and riverine British trade
weathered the post-Roman era to which Augustine and the
Welsh bishops relate, one might look to the ports of the
Bristol Channel. Gloucester, on the main Severn channel
~ Roman Glevum  survives to this day; its continuous
existence pretty much certain, given the record in the
Anglo-Saxon Chronicle (... AD) of ceastro (‘forts’, taken
to be ‘cities’; Swanton 2000) including Gleawanceaster
(Gloucester) and Bapanceaster (Bath) captured at that date.
By analogy, Bristol on the Avon might be seen politically
and economically to have assumed the mantle of the two
Avon Roman ports: lost Abona (Sea Mills), and surviving
Agquae Sulis | Bapanceaster / Bath.

The very early history of Bristol — Augustine’s antics
perhaps aside — is shrouded. But this is less the case for the
ports on two other main rivers entering the Bristol Channel,
the Wye and the Usk, whose stories are instructive.
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Beyond the section were a further three features which
appeared in the bottom of the excavation which had been
dug by machine for the basement. The remains of pit 4
(filled by contexts AG, AF, AE) was located 15m west and
3m west of the datum. It contained a further large quantity
of waste medieval pottery. Pit 10 (filled by context AY),
13.5m south and 5.1m west of datum, contained medieval
pottery including French imports. Pit 11 (filled by context
BF) approximately Sm south of pit 5, was a stone-lined
structure containing blue transfer-printed wares.

Interpretation of the structures

It can be seen from Fig | how the section coincides with the
rear of the range of buildings fronting Redcliff Hill,la  y
numbers 38, 40 and 42.

The medieval features can be divide into those which
preceded the construction of the building on the site of
40 Red """ Hill, those associated with it and unassociated
remnants of pits. Pits 1,2, 3 and 9 and layer 20 belong to the
first phase. All contained waste she ~ and can be associated
with pottery manufacture in the vicinity. The largest deposit
was contained in the pit 8 (layer 21) which produced 502
sherds (Table 2). It seems likely that, at least in the case
of pit 3 and layer 20, the pits had been filled to level the
ground with locally-available waster material and soil in
preparation for building.

The erection of a building on the site of 40 Redcliff
Hill involved the excavation of a foundation trench on its
south side (layers 25-27) but its north side appears to have
consisted of a much shallower foundation where robbing is
represented by layer 1. A stone wall bonded with pink mortar
was built in the southern trench and a floor of red clay(layer
19) was laid across the site sealing the foundation trench.
Outside the building a garden soil layer (18) accumulated
during the early life of the building. Since this building
stood well back from the street, it should be seen as a rear
extension to a house on the frontage. The foundation trench
was backfilled with clay and waste pottery suggesting the
presence of a convenient heap nearby. The underlying layer
(28) contained few waste sherds in comparison with the
quantity in the foundation trench.

The ~° 1 group of structures consists of pits 4,7, and 10.
All these contained medieval sherds, but only pit 4 contained
waste pottery in quantity, lacked later material and can be
presumed to be associated with the features in the section
also containing waste pottery. Pit 4 contained a sherd from a
French jug identical to a vessel from pit P52 dated to ¢.1400
at Water Lane, Temple, Bristol (Ponsford 1992). Otherwise
the date for pit 4 would appear to be ¢.1300. Excavation for
the new development at Red¢"" ™ Hill had truncated pit 4 and
only the base surviving below the section was available for
archaeological excavation.

The chronology of these features is described in more
detail below but in summary the pre-building structures
can be dated ¢.1300 to ¢.1350. __e floor of the building
contained a sherd of a handle decorated with the same kind
of slashing as found on vessels of St. Peter’s ware. This

alone would suggest a construction date for the bu™ " 3 of
about 1350.

Pit 5 contained a group of glass and wares that are
typical of the early 18th century. Most of the fine wares were
probably made in Bristol except for ten Midlands stoneware
vessels 7 a single import from Westerwald. The coarse
wares however derive from the surrounding region: from
East Somerset, North Devon and an unidentified source
probably in or around Bridgwater. From the distribution of
sherds it is clear that the pit was filled in one event. Pit 11
containing a late 19th-century group of unmarked transfer-
printed wares was sampled. Unfortunately approximately
two-thirds of the contents of these two pits had been
removed by machine. It is known from extant photographs
and other evidence that medieval structures survived until
demolition in 1968. Apart from the shot tower further south,
all these structures went unrecorded. Pits 5 and 11 ¢ = ide
with the rear of buildings fronting Redcliff Hill and are in
positions appropriate for cess-pits (Mosse 1969). The high
proportion of chamber pots in pit 5 is a reflection of h™ "
rise urban living at that date.

The Medieval Pottery
By Michae. . unsford

Introduction

The material from all the excavated features was visually
sorted by fabric on the basis of the Bristol ', : Fabric
Series devised for the material from the well-preserved
stratigraphy at Bristol Castle (Ponsford 1980). Some of these
types have been published since (Price and Ponsford 1978a,
23-26; 1978b, 41-45; Ponsford 1998a, 136-138; Burchill
2004; McSloy 2013). The well-preserved stratigraphy of the
castle has enabled a sequence of local ceramic development
to be reconstructed and dated.

Our knowledge of medieval pottery kilns in the area is
limited. In the Bristol, Gloucestershire and Somerset region
only the sites at Ham Green and Donyatt have produced
evidence of kiln structures in addition to the pottery waste
found at Crockern Pill and Glastonbury (Barton 1963a;
Coleman-Smith and Pearson 1988, 73-76; Ponsford 1991;
Hollinrake 2005). Waste material has been found elsewhere
in Bristo]  at St. Peter’s church, at nearby in excavations
at Peter Street carried out by the City Museum in 1975-76
and at St. Thomas Street (Dawson et al. 1972; ~ irchill
2004). The St. Peter’s church material was redeposited in
the f  “ition trench for the north aisle of the church dated
¢.1350. The R = 77" Hill waste, however, appears to have
come from Kilns oper: ©  nearby as in the features it occurs
it was associated with burnt clay. The non-Bristol pottery
is typical of material normally found in the medieval town
(Table 1).

The pottery from Redcliff Hill can be attributed to
the 14th century when seen in the broader context of the
overall pottery sequences from excavations in the area of the
medieval town. Its discovery elucidated the development of
a distinctive Bristol-made ware as a 13th-century successor



Layer 29 28 27 26 25 23/4 22 21 20 19  Pit4 Pit4 Pit4 16 15 14 13 12 10 8 Total
Context AX Al AT AS AK AB AC AU AV AD AG AF AE AH AR AQ AP AD AO BA BB AY AZ U/S

BPT no

27 5 1 2 10
32 10 1 1 1 13
46 1 13 2 6 4 1 28
67a 1 8 3 4 16
74 1 1
84 3 8 7 1 3 2 1 1 25
85 1 2 2 4 7 5 2 5 28
114 1 1 8 10
117 1 1 1 1 4 2 1 2 13
118 7 18 36 4 145 12 3 372 102 13 70 144 10 2 1 3 1 1 24 968
120 1 2 3
121 2 1 3
123 1 69 10 5 2 87
124 1 1
126 1 20 21
127 3 1 4
131 1 1
156 2 2 2 6
160 1 1
197 1 1
231 1 1
254 1 1 3 5
Tile F1 3 12 18 20 1 1 1 7 1 2 66
Tile F2 2 1 5 10 32 1 51
Tile F3 31 1 2
Tile F4 1 6 7
Tile FS 2 3 7 13
Louver 1 1 2 7 7 1 18
Floor Tile 1 1
Total 13 3 58 4 177 32 14 502 2 127 17 100 256 14 3 1 1 2 3 1 6 1 34 1404

Table 2 Quantification of medieval sherds found.
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Bases. These tend to be simple and flat but can
appear £ "ar to the bases of jugs. Sooting may aid
differentiation though sooted jug bases are known.

Spouts. Where they occur they are simple pulled
spouts and most probably belong to the skillet form (see
3 below).

Decoration. None has been noted on sherds so far
found in Bristol.

Glazes. It was usual to glaze the internal surface only,
although external glaze may not always be accidental.
Some jugs are glazed internally which makes
identification of sherds difficult.

Skillets. These are a variant of form 2 but with added
handles and some may have feet. The handle takes the
common medieval tapered and end-curled form. The
glazes are internal or may be absent.

Bowls. These are of two forms: straight-sided or
rounded. The former were probably meat-pans or
dripping trays but no large fragments have been found
so far.

Rims. These are simple and of  beaded or flattened
externally. There are examples with external flanges.

Bases. As for rounded jars.

Spout. None have been identified on the rc  “ed type
but there are signs of these on straight-sided bowls.

Decoration. None identified.

Glazes. Normally internal.

Aquamaniles. have been found, for example at Peter
Street in 1975-6 (Boore 1982, 10). The subjects include
mounted knights, rams, monkeys and bears (see below).
The modelling style of decoration is : * " to that used
on ‘exotic’ jugs (see Fig. 4.52). Some may have been
roof finials.

Costrels. While not definitely identified at Redcliff
Hill, several fragments and an almost complete barrel
costrel from Bristol Castle site F show that these were
made here (Ponsford 1980).

Other vessel fo Money-boxes and salts/ink v
have been identined from excavations elsewhere in
Bristol.

Glazed roof-tiles, tile fabric 1. These are confined
to decorated ridge-tiles. No ceramic plain tiles have
been found. It seems to be customary to use stone tiles
of Pennant which survive in abundance or possibly
shingles as recorded from Bristol Castle (Colvin 1963,
1,124; Ponsford 1980).

10

1

12

13

14

Crests are knife-cut into angular peaks about 30mm in
height, each individually stabbed often right through
the clay with the point of a knife. The ends consist of
half-peaks often rounded to provide a thickened edge
which continues down the side of the tile.

Glazes tend to be pale green or yellow with d
flecks and cover the external surface.

green

Decoration. None apart from the crests.

Glazed roof-tiles, tile fabric 2.

Crests are lower than those in tile fabric 1 and are
stabbed with a rounded point. The edges of the tiles are
again thickened.

Glazes are darker green than those on tile fabric 1.

Decoration. None of examples from Redcliff Hill but
this type can carry applied diagonal thumbed strips (see
Rahtz 1960, 246, figure 13, 43).

Glazed roof-tiles, tile fabric 3. Features as those
in tile fabric 1 except the glazes tend to be green with
yellow flecks.

Glazed roof-tiles, tile fabric 4. Features as those in
tile fabric 1.

Glazed roof-tiles, tile fabric 5. Features as those in
tile fabric 2.

Crested ridge tiles with finials. Fragments only have
been found, nearly all in tile fabric 4. Fragments of a fine
ball finial in pottery fabric A were found attached to the
end of a crested tile in Tile Fabric 2 at St Barthomew’s
Hospital (Ponsford 1998b, no 197).

Louvers. No wasters were found at Redcliff Hill but
fragments in tile fabric 4 have been found elsewhere.
Fragmentary examples from Peter Street and Back Hall
have been published (Price and Ponsford 1979b, 4446,
figure 21, 1; Barton 1960, 267 and 280-1, figure §, 18).
As with other known examples, the Bristol louvers have
multiple hooded openings. The external glazes are good

q 'y green.

Evidence of kiln structures and the firing of Redcliff ware.
Although no kiln structures were found, there is some

evidence of possible fir’

methods to be found in the

sherds themselves. Many of the wasted sherds, like those
from St. Peter’s church, were coated with light red under-
fired clay. This suggests that they may have been reused in
the kiln structure in some way. This feature is also found on
some Ham Green-type sherds from Pill (pers.obs.). Another
possible reason follows below. Bryant has suggested that

an open-top

kiln was an efficient and likely type of kiln

used in the medieval period; a finding confirmed by the
Bickley experiments (Bryant 1977, 122; Dawson and Kent
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11.

12.

13.
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Jug, neck and shoulder sherds, darkish green glaze,
some darker flecks. The vessel was slightly distorted.
Decoration in the form of a band of grooving which
may continue downwards. Fabric A, frequent small
dark grits, some shale, BPT 118, PW.

Jug, body sherd, mid-green glaze which has run over
the edge. Decoration of a thumbed applied strip with
pronounced curves at the girth of the vessel. The
external surface is covered with light red underfired
clay. Fabric A, no visible dark inclusions, BPT 118, W.

Jug, rim sherd, pale green glaze flecked with dark green.
Typical Ham Green B jug (Barton 1963a, 103). BPT 27,
NR.

Rounded jar, rim (context AK) and body sherds
(context AT), glazed pale yellow-green inside and out.
Narrow applied thumbed strip at the girth. The rim is of
the neckless type (Dawson et al. 1972, 164, figure 3).
Altho ~ sherds were coated with underfired clay it is
unlikely that they were made at =~ ‘cliff Hill. BPT 84
(probably Minety), NR.

Jug, * ple rim (context AK) and spout (context AT),
glazed externally as 9 and may be part of the same
vessel. Fabric, some dark inclusions. ~ 2T 118, PW.

Wall foundation (context AK)

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

Jug, rim as 13, traces of spout, internal pale green glaze
with dark green flecks but matt brown on one side.
Fabric A, no visible dark grits. BPT 118, NW.

Jug, face-spout, badly burnt pale green glaze. The
features are well made with iron-rich clay used for the
eyes and the crown. The eyes are stabbed and the crown
slashed. It is not certain whether the spout has a bridge.
From the nature of the break the spout was made
separately and applied to the jug. The style of Redcliff
Hill faces is similar to that on the Camel jug which is
dated ¢.1350 (Ponsford 1979, figure 22). Fabric A, no
dark inclusions, BPT 118, W.

Jug, face-spout as 15 with yellow glaze and decoration
in pale brown. The crown, eyes and mouth are stabbed
through iron-rich clay. Fabric A, BPT 118, PW.

Jug, base sherd, external burnt glaze coated with
light red underfired clay, internal yellow-green glaze
with runs over the edges. Carefully made and slightly
splayed. Fabric A, BPT 118, W.

I base sherd, external pale green glaze with darker
flecks. Slightly splayed. The section shows that extra
clay was applied twice to make the splayed foot, these
joints opened in firing. Fabric A, BPT 118, W.

Jug, handle root, external pale green glaze with darker
flecks. The body of the vessel was decorated with
grooving. Fabric A, fewd ° inclusions, BPT 118, NW.

20.

21.

22.

23.

25.

26.

27.

28.

29,

30.

31.

32.

33.

Jug, handle, pale green glaze with darker flecks.
Decorated with a variation on the herring-bone
pattern. Covered with light red underfired clay over
the decorated part but is not itself a waster. Fabric A
off-white, BPT 118, NW.

Jug, root of a handle as 20, similar glaze which runs over
an edge, coated with underfired clay. The decoration
finishes with muitiple slashing in contrast to 19. Fabric
A, some dark inclusions and a fragment of ironstone
4mm long, BPT 118, W.

Jug, body sherd, good external green glaze with darker
flecks. Decorated with h mtal rilling. Fabric A, dark
and white quartz grits, BPT 118, NW.

Jug, body sherd, external dull green glaze, internal
yellow glaze. Applied decoration part of a limb. Fabric
A, dark and quartz inclusions, BPT 118, NW.

. Jug, body sherd, external mid-green glaze with dark

flecks. Decoration of parallel horizontal grooves made
with a blunted tool. Fabric A as 22-23, B. . 118, NW.

Jug, body sherd, glaze as 24. Decoration of close
grooving on the shoulder similar to 24 but blank below.
Coated with underfired clay. Fabric A as 24, BPT 118,
NW.

Jug, body sherd, external yellow-green glaze with
brown flecks. Decoration similar to 25 but at the top of
the shoulder. Fabric A as 22-25, 2T 118, NW.

Rounded jar, rim sherd, internal yellow glaze with
dark green flecks. Rim everted with traces of a spout
or handle at one edge. Fabric A with pinkish tinge, few
white grits, BPT 85, W.

Rounded jar, im and shoulder sherd, overall glaze as

". Everted rim rim externally flattened with a slight
prominence in the centre of the internal bevel. Fabric A,
some whitish grits, BPT 85, W.

Jug, rim sherd, external brown-green glaze. Standard
form with applied pads in the body clay. External
coating of underfired clay. Fabric A, white and dark
inclus’ voids inside, BPT 118, NW.

Jug, body sherd, good external pale green glaze with
darker flacks. Decorated with a row of vertical pellets
in dark clay. Fabric A, fine grits, BPT 118, NW.

Jug, rim sherd, external yellow-green glaze, small
brown flecks. BPT 27 (Ham Green B), NR.

Jug, body sherd, external light green glaze with darker
flecks, Decorated with a band which is attached to part
of a limb and touches another applied feature which has
broken off. BPT 27 (Ham Green ~ , ..

Rounded jar, rim sherd, red surfaces. Decorated
with wavy combing made with a two-toothed comb
and on the rim top stabbed lightly probably with a
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58. Rounded jar or jug, base sherd, external yellow glaze
with green flecks, some internal clear glaze. Seem too
wide and everted for a jug although the slight splay
is normal for this form. Glaze runs over edges and a
fragmentary coat of underfired clay. Fabric A, no visible
inclusions, BPT 85 or 118, W.

59. Skillet,t 'z ° part of body, sparse and patchy clear
glaze with few green flecks. The form is a common
medieval type produced for example at Laverstock,
Wiltshire, and Audlem, Cheshire (Musty et al. 1969:
108, figure 11, 46; Webster and Dunning 1960, 114,
figure 40, 15-17)’ The handle is end-curled. And is
applied with a pronounced finger pull on the top towards
the body and three pulls underneath. The rim form was
probably as type BPT 85 as can be seen on other Bristol
examples. There is a glaze run on one edge and a little
underfired clay elsewhere. . ubric A, few inclusions,
BPT 131, W.

Layer 20 (context AV)

60. Jug, base sherd, dull olive brown glaze. The frill was
produced by pulling the thumb downwards. The base is
sag = . Fabric A, fine inclusions, BPT 124,

Layer 19 (context AD)

61. Jug, handle ° rd, yellow glaze with patches of green.
Decoration of oblique slashing down centre between
vertical lines, a common design among St.Peter’s
church material. There are glaze runs on one edge and
some underfired clay on the exterior. Fabric A, some
unhomogenised pellets, BPT 118, W.

62. Jug, body sherd, yellow glaze with frequent green
flecks. Decoration of a band of three grooves. A little
underfired clay on exterior. Fabric A, dark and light
inclusions, BPT 117, NW.

63. Rounded jar, rim sherd, burnt yellow glaze with green
flecks. Form similar to 53-57 above. Glaze runs and
some underfired clay. Fabric A, some dark inclusions,
BPT 85, W.

64. Rounded jar, base sherd, internal yellow-green g’
with patches on exterior. Fabric B, BPT 85, NW.

65. Rounded jar, rim sherd, internal yellow glaze with green
flecks. The form is complex and has a clear internal
lid-seat. Clay has been added to thicken the rim. The
fabric is pink throughout. Fabric A variant, white grits,
round unhomogenised clay pellets, BPT 4, W.

66. Rounded jar, rim sherd, some glaze splashes. This sherd
may have used as a separator but accidentally glazed
rounded jars are common from Ham Green (Barton
1963a, 112, figure 7,7). BPT 32 (I Green), NR.

67. Rounded jar, rim sherd, pale yellow glaze on rim. . _.rm
is common in this type (see 12), L. . 84 (possible
Minety), NR.
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Pit 4 (context AF)

68. Jug, rim sherd, fine yellow-green glaze with brown
tinge where it has pooled round the rim and decoration.
Standard form of rim. Decorated with vertical applied
thumbed strip. The rim has cracked in firing. Fabric A,
one or two dark grits, one large piece of quartz, BPT
118, PW.

69. Jug, body sherd, internal and external dull emerald
to yellow-green glaze. Decorated with a thumbed
horizontal girth band. Flecks of kiln debris and glaze
runs over one edge. Fabric A, few fine white grits, BPT
118, W.

Pit 4 (context AE)

70. Jug, rim and handle sherd, external burnt green glaze.
The handle is clumsier than 38 and 39 and suggests a
slightly later date for this example. Fabric A, pinkish
open body, some light and dark inclusions, BPT 118,
PW.

71. Jug, rim and handle sherd, patchy external mid-green
glaze, Simple form of rim decorated with thumb-pads
round the outside. Handle is large and heavy with the
beginnings of slashing at the neck. Fabric A, few fairly
fine © lusions, BPT 118, NW.

72. Jug, rim and simple pulled spout, external mid-green
glaze. Simple rim decorated outside with a pad which
was probably repeated round the pot. The form is known
from St.Peter’s church (Dawson et al. 1972, 162, figure
2). Glazed edges and some kiln debris adhering on the
exterior. Fabric A, many dark inclusions, BPT 118, W.

73. Jug, base sherd, internal light green and yellow glaze.
Simple form with a slight splay resembling 45 above.
Fabric A, some dark grits, BPT 118, NW.

74. Rounded jar or possibly a jug (the diameter suggests the
former), base sherd, internal yellow glaze with ereen
flecks. Signs of slight frilling. Fabric B, BPT 85, .. ...

75. Jug, misshapen base sherd, grey-brown glaze flecked
with brown, int 1 surface light brown and probably
reduced. The edge is splayed and carefully made
by applying pads 25mm wide and smoothing them
down. They have cracked at the junctions when firing.
Fragments of another jug adhere to the base. Trace of
glaze run on one edge. Fabric A, many white and dark
grits, BPT 118, W,

76. Jug, base sherd, external mid-green glaze. Edge well
made with little splay. Fabric A, few tiny grits, BPT
118, NW.

Jug, worn sherd of base. ~ ze eroded. Sharply splayed
base. Fabric A, a large calcite fragment, fine sand and
unhomogenised clay pellets, BPT 118, NW.
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Pit 4 (context AE)

99. Sherd, green brown glaze runs over edges, low-cut
crest, round stabs. Tile fabric 2, W.

100. End sherd, sparse mid-green glaze with brown fiecks,
low-cut crest, Tile fabric 2, NW.

101. End sherd, thick green-brown glaze runs over edges,
low-cut crest, rounded oblique stabs. Tile fabric 2, W.

102. End sherd, mid-green glaze with brown flecks, high
cut crests with squared stabs. Tile fabric 4, NW.

103. Sherd, yellow-brown glaze, high cut crests, end
projection rounded by hand, knife stabs. Tile fabric 1,
W.

Louvers and finials

Pit 2 (context AC)

104. Part of a louver opening, mid-green glaze with green
flecks. Fabric A, numerous white and dark grit, NW.

Pit 4 (context AE)

105. Flange from hooded louver-opening, internal green
glaze with yellow flecks, fuming on exterior. This
fragment could be drawn upside down and also could
be part of a very large rounded jar. Fabric A, NW.

106. Rounded projection from a roof tile, probably part of a
finial, mid-green glaze with flecks of yellow and dark
green. F: . A, numerous white inclusions, NW.

Kiln furniture

107. This sherd is the only example which may have served
as some kind of kiln furniture.

Commentary on and Catalogue of Post-Medieval
Pottery from Pit 5
By David Dawson

A date of between 1720 and 1750 is suggested for the
deposition of the contents of this pit on the basis of the
limited date range of mottled ware and the dating of the
clay tobacco pipes. Not all the pottery was recovered. Only
reasonably complete vessels are listed but those marked
with an asterisk * are not accompanied by an illustration.
All are incomplete unless indicated otherwise. The variety
of wares, including chamber pots of tin-glazed as well as
red earthenwares, is an indication of the domestic nature of
these contents. It is clear that at this period Bristol relied
on coarse red earthenwares sourced from East Somerset
(Nunney, Trudoxhill and Wanstrow) and from North Devon
rather than from West Somerset as in the preceding century
and from more local production as later the 19th century.
The Bristol pottery type series includes post-medieval types
but as these are currently being revised in the light of recent
research they are not used here.

Tin-glazed earthenwares

It is highly likely that all ten pieces were made in Bristol
although there are no exact parallels with any waste
decorated sherds so far found at ~ ‘me Kiln Lane, Temple
Back, Redcliff Back or the nearby but earlier pottery at
Brislington. Several pieces are imperfect: the glaze of plate
114 has bubbled as a result of under firing and both 112 and
113 have warped. Although the quality of finish is varied
(111 is undoubtedly the best-made of the group) the fabric
is consistent. It fires to a white pinkish-buff and contains
sparse quantities of dark (hi  atite) inclusions. See also
biscuit 170 and 171 below.

108. Plate, painted on white in blue and red, and in the
centre also in sage green; marked on the back with an
‘M’ in sage green; diam. 218mm. Contexts BA, BC,
BE.

109. Bowl, exterior painted on white in blue, red and sage
green; marked =~ ide in sage green; diam. 90mm,
BRSMG Q1500. Context BA.

110. Bowl, base missing, exterior painted on white in blue,
red and sage green; diam. 104mm. Context BA.

111. Plate, painted blue and blue tinted ba °~ Hund with
portrait of King William III between the initials KW;
diam. 237mm. Possibly made as a commemorative
piece after William’s death in 1702. Context BA, BE.

""7. Plate,) ° ted and sponged blue on white with a single
figure seated in a wood; marked in blue with alternate
slashes and circle and dot or crosses on the back; diam.
282mm. Context BA.

113. Plate, painted and sponged blue on white with a figure
walking out of a wood in identical painted style to
112 but with no border; marked in blue with alternate
circles and crosses; diam. 248mm. Context BA.

114. Plate, painted blue on white with a sunflower, glaze
bubbled badly; diam. 217mm. Context BA.

115. Saucer, painted blue on white with floral decoration;
diam. 80mm, BRSMG Q1494. Context BA.

116. Plate, undecorated white; diam 220mm. Context BA.

1. Chamber pot, handle missing, undecorated white; rim
diam. 193mm. Context BA.

Yellow slip wares

In Bristol wasters of yellow slip ware have proved to be
elusive. Barton recalled seeing such material at Hotwell
Road and Red ™" Wharf in 1957 (Barton 1961, 164).
Although the site of delftware waste, Price could not discern
any evidence of waste among the group of yellow slipware
found at Temple Back in 1972 (Price 2005, 62). Yet as Barton
postulated, Bristol must have been a major manufacturing
centre, rivalling and possibly originating earlier than, the
potteries of Staffordshire and giving rise to the quantities
of its products found in archaeological fieldwork in the
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publication among whom are members of the group of
aspiring archaeologists who used to et regularly on
Thursday ev ~igsat " City Museum. The lapse of forty-
eight years makes such a task impossible to reconstruct the
record that should have been made at the time. We would
like to thank Kate Iles of Bristol City Museums and Art
Gallery for allowing us to revisit the material which is
archived there.
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alluvial clay. No s" "‘icant archaeological remains were
revealed.

Raymond K Ducker BWA

East Harptree
Pear Tree House, Water Street, .. . 6705 55792. A controlled
archaeological watching brief revealed no features, deposits
or finds.

Raymond K Ducker BWA

Keynsham
New Kingdom Hall, .. 55331 68741. An evaluation recorded
a small quantity of residual Roman pottery and identified
several medieval/early post-medieval ditches potentially
representing plot boundaries associated with properties
fronting Keynsham High Street. Late post-medieval refuse
pits were also present.

Dan Sausins, CA

Somerdale Phase 2. ST 6562 6912. An excavation by
recorded a prehistoric enclosure identified in a previous
excavation and watching brief. Roman quarry pits were
also present and may have related to a known small town,
possibly 7raiectus. Undated field boundary ditches and
postholes were also revealed.

Greg Crees, CA

St Monica’s Trust at Fry’s, Somerdale, ST 65708 69402. An
evaluation identified no features or deposits of archaeological
significance.

Liam Wilson, CA

Midsomer Norton
Beecham Place Fosseway. ST 6682 5294. A watching
brief by Cotswold Archaecoogy revel: | no archaeological
remains.

Adam Howard, CA

Newton St Loe
Wellow Building, Bath Spa University, ST 69390 63961. A
watching brief within the Grade II* Registered Park and
Gardens of Newton Park, close by the Scheduled medieval
castle revealed nothing of archaeological interest.

Raymond K Ducker BWA

Radstock
Bath College, Somer Valley Campus, ST 68469 54592.
A progt : of archaeological work recoreded a post-
medieval field boundary ditch.

Joe Whelan, CA

Stanton Drew
Church Lane Cottage, ST 59765 63193. A watching brief
revealed no archaeological features or deposits.

Raymond K Ducker BWA

Temple Cloud
Land South of = mple Inn Lane. ST 623 580. Evaluation
trenching revealed no features or deposits of archaeological
interest.

Adam Howard,CA

Whitchurch
Horseworld, ST ~~"2 6753. A watching brief by
Cotswold Archaeology revealed no features or deposits of
archaeological interest.

Ralph Brown, CA

The Mead, ST 6167 8917. An evaluation revealed three
Late Iron Age/Early Roman ditches forming part of a wider
agricultural landscape.

Joe Whelan, CA

The Mead, ST 61879 67261. An archaeological excavation
recorded a Late Iron Age and Roman rural settiement.
A square enclosure contained pits, tree-throw holes and
an occupation layer; later agricultural activity may have
removed structural features. Several ditches were present
in the vicinity of the enclosure. Three probable lst—2nd-
century AD burials were sited within the disused enclosure.
Ditches correlating to post-medieval field systems were also
present.

Paolo Guarino, CA

LISTOL

Avc  uth
Land north side of Severn Road, ST 53350 32118. A watching
brief during construction of an access road revealed a single
sherd of medieval pottery within an alluvial layer at the base
of excavation.

Raymond K Ducker BWA

Land north side of Severn Road, Avonmouth, ST 53350
32118. A watching brief during excavations for a sewage
treatment plant and petrol interceptor tank located a buried
stabilisation herizon, possibly dating from the prehistoric or
Roman period.

Raymond K Ducker BWA

Bec -~ iter
89-94 West Street, Bedminster, ST 5811771559  raluation
trenching revealed only modern made ground and cuts
despite the proximity of the site to known prehistoric and
Roman remains.

Raymond K Ducker, BWA

Lower Knowle Farm, ST 5929470798 Evaluation trenching
revealed soil-cut features which contained 12th-century
pottery and post-medieval walls connected with an

agricultural building.
Raymond K Ducker, BWA

131 Bridgwater Road, ST 5616 6919. A watching brief
recorded an undated stone d
Sara-Jayne Boughton, CA



Red Zone, Wapping Wharf. ST 5859 7217. An excavation
confirmed historic cartographic evidence for a sequence
of post-medieval and modern harbour-side developments.
Four terraced 18th-century cottages, constructed for the
workers of the nearby shipyards, were identified. These had
been superseded by a single 19th-century building which
was in turmn replaced by several structures associated with
the development of the Harbour Railway from the late 19th
century onwards.

Christopher ~ onard, CA
B~ psworth
Parcel 4, Imperial Way, Hartcliffe. ST 5836 6853. A watching
brief identified no features or deposits of archaeological
interest.

Jay Wood, CA

Kingswood
Rawlings and Sons Works, Cecil Road, ST 5922, 7409. A
standing building record was made of this two-storey brick
fronted industrial building. Built in the late 19th or early
20th century, few internal features of interest survived
extensive 20th century remodelling of the structure,.

Bruce Williams BWA

Redcliffe
Redcliff Street/St Thomas Street. ST 5909 7270. Excavation
to the rear of Red ~ ™" Street and St Thomas Street identified
remains dating fr the colonisation of Redcliff in the
early 12th century wgh to the modern period. The
dating evidence indicated a clear sequence of development
originating at the River Avon frontage and moving
eastwards to focus on the 11th-century Church of S. . ..omas
the Martyr. Stakeholes to the rear of St Thomas Street were
probably part of the earliest laying out of © suburb and
other features from " period included structural remains,
a probable cess pit, horticultural furrows and a substantial
boundary ditch to the rear of Redcliff Street and S. ...omas
Street which drained into the Law Ditch. Subsequent
development was evidenced by the remains of later 14th
to 15th-century buildings. The footings of subsequent
17th-century properties on the St Thomas Street alignment
were also present alongside extensive evidence of late post
medieval drainage ditches, walls, garden features, cellars
and wells, as well as activity associated with modemn
developments.

Simon Sworn, CA

Sea Mills
32 Hadrian Close, ST 55...  75802. ." archaeological
excavation during building groundworks revealed a kerbed
trackway, wall foundation, fire-pit, two ditches and pits
containing pottery dated from the 1st or early 2nd centuries
AD. Three masonry walls of a 19th century building were
also recorded.

Raymond K Ducker BWA
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St Augustines
Brandon Yard, Lime Kiln Road, ST 57924 72524. Historic
building recording of three Grade II Listed Buildings at
Brandon Yard (the Engine House, the Purifier House and
the boundary wall of the western gasworks) revealed that all
were at risk and had undergone later alterations.

Peter Davenport, CA

St James
Bridewell Street. YMCA Former CID Building. ST 5889
7330. Historic building recording of the former CID building
on Bridewell Street, which was constructed in 192 934,
identified that the building has undergone very little change
since this date. The front elevation s a reinterpretation of
the preceding b " “ng, which was erected in 1844 and the
building is in a typical interwar, stripped classical style with
Art Deco influences. Of particular note is the lift which
seems to be entirely of this period, including its mechanism.
Peter Davenport, CA

St Philip
3 Braggs Lane, ST. ST 5995473325. Evaluation tren: ' g
revealed a 17th/18th-century wall and post-medieval
deposits overlying a buried topsoil and shallow linear cut,
possibly d: ©  from the medieval period.

Bruce Williams BWA

8 Pennywell Road, ST 59935 73566. A watching brief
revealed parts of 19th and 20th century walls and made
ground.

Raymond K Ducker BWA

SS Philip & Jacob Without
Glassfields, Old Bread Street, ST 59613 72852. An
excavation identified horticultural ground surfaces
containing 12th to l4th-century pottery, and revealed a
range of structu  relating to both domestic and industrial
occupation from the latter half of the 17th century through
to the present day. These included cellars, wells, cess pits
and well-preserved clay tobacco pipe kilns from the 19th
century, as well as walls relating to both domestic properties
and the Bristol Distillery, which was in operation from 1782
to the 1940s

cA

Land at Silverthorne Lane, ST 60501 72565. A watching
brief revealed no archaeological remains.
Luke Brannlund, CA

St Stephen
Nos 13-21 Baldwin Street, ST 58700 72900. A standing
building record was made of this building prior to its partial
demolition. Latterly a night club, it was from 1927/28 the
‘New Palace’/’Gaumont Cinema’ and, before that, the
‘Peoples Palace’. However’ no evidence of that buil ~
was found. Late 20th century remodelling of the = rior of
the building removed much of any interest, except for some
decorative cornice w ~ and ceilings from the ‘New Palace’..
Bruce Williams BWA
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Nos 13-21 Baldwin Street, ST 58700 72900. Two evaluation
pits excavated within the standing building revealed no
significant archaeological features or deposits,

Raymond K Ducker BWA

T e
Plot ND6, ..mple Quay, ST 59694 72818. An evaluation
by Cotswold Archaeology identified post-medieval clay
extraction pits potentially relating to brick manufacture in
the area in the 17th century. Structural remains of 18th and
19th-century buildings were also present.

Alex Thomson, CA

The Generator Building, Finzel’s Reach, ST 59270 72943.
Historic building recording was undertaken at the Grade
II listed building, originally constructed in 1888-89 to
house electricity generating equipment for the city’s rapidly
developing tramway network. The recording noted the
imposing classical composition, with lavish stone detail,
and the incorporation of  ‘nnovative internal steel-framed
construction of American manufacture and design.

Peter Davenport, CA

The Former Post Office Sorting Depot, Cattlemarket Road,
ST 59894 72452. A watching brief during the excavation of
geotechnical test pits and boreholes found no evidence for
the mid  19th — century cholera burial ground. This was
probably located within the study area next to the Floating
Harbour during test-pitting in 2014 (BHER 25409). No
features of archaeological significance were revealed.
Raymond K Ducker BWA

Westbury-on-Trym
Holy Trinity Church, Westbury on Trym, ST 5731077403.
Improvements to the entrance porch to provide step-free-
access exposed two burial vaults with ledger stones. One
contained the inscription ‘Philip Crocker, Died 1821’ Brick
vault walls were whitewashed and the vaults contained at
least four wooden coffins.

Raymond K Ducker, BWA

Queen Victoria House, Redland Hill. ST 5745 7484.
An evaluation and subsequent watching brief revealed
extensive post  dieval quarrying. There was no evidence
of the Roman road between Bath and Sea Mills, the course
of which was projected to cross the site.

Christopher Leonard and Alex Thomson, CA

Whitchurch

St Augustine’s Church, ST 60313 67701. A wat ~ " g brief

identified no features or deposits of archaeological interest.
Joe Whelan, CA

NORTH SOMERSET

Congresbury
Land off Small Way, ST 4361 6462. A watching brief
identified no archaeological remains.

George Gandham, CA

Land adjacent Cadbury Garden Centre, Bristol Road, ST
4380 6420. Evaluation trenching revealed four shallow,
undated linear cuts.

Raymond K Ducker BWA

Weston- _ :r-Mare
Land at Warleys Lane, West Wick, ST 37442 62236. An
evaluation recorded a series of alluvial layers and a thin
organic layer representing a later prehistoric or Roman
stabilised land surface.

Christopher Leonard, CA

Winford
Site C, Bristo! Airport. ST 4991 6472. An evaluation
identified a ditch of prehistoric to Roman date and modern
limestone quarry pits.

Christopher Leonard, CA

Yatton
Smart Systems Ltd (Phase 5), Ammolds Way, ST 41397 66067.
An evaluation by Cotswold Archaeology identified the base
of an undated pit. Horizontal truncation had occurred across
the site so it is unclear if the pit predates this modern activity
or is associated with it.

Christina Tapply, CA

SOUT™ GLOUCESTE™ """ RE

Almondsbury
Helicopter Air Ops, ST 6123 8374. Evaluation trenching
revealed numerous ditches belonging to an undated field
system.

Greg Crees, CA

Alveston
No. 12 The Down, ST 62960 8§8145. A watching brief
revealed no features, structures or deposits of archaeological
interest.

Raymond K Ducker BWA

Land at Vattingstone Lane, ST 361304188402, A watching
brief revealed no archaeological features.
Raymond K Ducker, BWA

Chipping Sodbury
Land at East Brinsham ( Phase 2), Chipping Sodbury Quarry.
ST 72632 85243. An evaluation identified an undated ditch,
probably a boundary pre-dating mapping of 1731,

Alistair Barber, CA

Land North of St Johns Way, ST 73193 82798. An

evaluation identified possible prehistoric ditches and pit, a

late prehistoric/Roman ditch and several undated ditches.
Christopher Leonard, CA

Land off Quarry Road, ST 7236 8243. A watching brief by
Cotswold Archaeology identified no features or deposits of

archaeological interest.
CA
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Thornbury Castle, Castle Street, ST 63371 90698. An
evaluation identified structural remains relating to the
development of Thornbury Castle and its environs. A
plastered wall within the west range pre-dates the existing
structure and may have formed part of a high-status building.
A substantial wall, possibly representing a continuation
of known medieval/Tudor structures, was identified in the
kitchen garden, and undated structural remains, comprising
compacted limestone surfaces, stone-lined drains/culverts
and walls, as well as post-medieval levelling deposits, were
also present.

Greg Crees, CA

Tytherington
Land off Duck Street, ST66973 88139, Following
geophysical survey of c¢.15 hectares of agricultural land
which revealed no archaeological anomalies, thirteen
20m evaluation trenches were excavated. No significant
archaeological deposits or structures were found. A small
number of amorphous features of possible prehistoric date
were revealed, although some of these may have been of
geological origin.

Raymond K Ducker BWA

Land to the West of Stowell Hill Road, ST 66640 88400.
An evaluation recorded medieval/post-medieval ridge and
furrow remains and two undated ditches.

Peter Searle, CA

Wick
Beach Farm, The Fatting Shed, ST 371517170601.
A watching brief during conversion works found no

archaeological deposits.
Raymond K Ducker, BWA

Wickwar
25 Station Road, ST 7238488855. A watching brief found
no archaeological deposits.

Raymond K Ducker, BWA

Winterbourne
Land at Hillcrest, 22 Down Road, Winterbourne Down.
ST 65029 79761. An evaluation by Cotswold Archaeology
identified no archaeological remains.

CA
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profession in Julv 1988 and two years later moved with his
young family to  anquetot in the cc e of Cretteville
in Normandy — a larger garden being one of the attractions,
Until he moved to France, Ken often came to Bristol to
visit family, friends, the museum, antique shops to add to
his pottery collection and sites under excavation. The visit
usually took in the Coronation Tap, which he reme “iered
fondly from his time in the city.

Kenneth qualified for the Diploma of the Museums
Association in 1963 and soon made his mark in the
profession. He served as a professional councillor in 19714
and 1976-9, was elected a Fellow in 1974, President of the
South Eastern Federation of Museums and Art Galleries
1 80 and a Vice-President of the Museums Association
in 198 .. The Museums Journal records his championing
of volunteer archaeological ‘correspondents’ and small
museums like that at Axbridge (Somerset), and most of all
the recognition and training of technical staff. He chaired the
Museums Association’s Technical Training Sub-committee
which reviewed the whole issue and led to the initiation of
the Technical Certificate and ultimately access to the award
of the Diploma itself. He was also a regular contributor
of reviews on new publications on pottery, giving
fulsome praise where due but blunt when pointing out the
shortcomings of the author. It is not surprising that at a point
in 1975 when the Association was unable to cope with the
growing pressures on museums from changes in the way
that archaeology was done in Britain, he helped give voice
to the concerns of archaeologists wo ** ; in museums by
being a founder and first chair of the Society of Museum
Archaeologists.

It should be remembered that then museums were wholly
involved in the archaeological fieldwork being carried out
in their community. It was s¢  as an essential method of
acquisition, developing the collections and understandi:
the archaeology of the locality, ~ * ‘ating new research ana
involving the public in the process. It was also entirely
understood that a good curator or museum director was a
respected practitioner of their chosen discipline. This not
only directly benefitted the quality of service provided to
the public but lent to the esteem in which the public held
a museum. K th’s development as an archaeologist and
pottery spe ~ “'st can be seen to run in parallel with his
museum career but it was closely integral to it.

Kenneth always shared his knowledge with others.
He usually worked in close collaboration with colleagues.
He was a founder member of the Society for Medieval
Archaeology in 1957 and in 1963 with John Hurst, another
pioneer of medieval and later pottery studies, and with the
encouragement of Alan Warhurst, then Director of Bristol
City Museum, he was instrumental in founding the Post-
Medieval Ceramic Research Group. The scope of this new
group was widened in 1966 to become the Society for Post-
medieval Archaeology, a society like the later Medieval
Pottery Research Group, which always sought to draw

together like-minded souls from Europe and wider afield.
During his presidency in 1980 he organised in Bristol the
first joint conference of the Society for Post-medieval
Archaeology and the Society for Historical Archaeology.
When Andrew White wrote in the Museum Archaeologist
of Kenneth’s contribution to the Society of Museum
Archaeologists, ‘We all owe a great debt of gratitude ...
especially to Kenneth Barton who has been one of the main
formative forces behind the Society’ (White 1980), he could
have been writing for the membership of all the societies in
whose inauguration Kenneth was involved.

Not surprisingly in such a full career Kenneth
developed a wide network of contacts, some like the late
Bob Thompson and the late Rona Cole he counted among
his close friends, but also many colleagues, friends and
acquaintances who owe so  ch to him and his generosity
of spirit for inspiration and encourag  nt. : has amply
repaid the confidence placed in him by his early mentors.

There is one other legacy that Kenneth has left for
our benefit and enjoyment ~ his collection of vernacular
pottery from (mostly) western Europe. It was acquired
piece by piece over many years as a conscious memorial
‘to show the end of products of a centuries-old tradition;
they were kept together to record its passing and to marvel
at its persistence and tenacity. We can see in these wares
evidence of the remarkable skill, ability and intelligence
of mankind faced with producing wares in often primitive
conditions’ (Barton 1982). The collection was first exhibited
in Guernsey Museum and Art Gallery in 1982 and later °
1996 at Somerset County Museum on the occasion of his
gift of the collection to Somerset County Museums Service.

It is appropriate to end this commemoration with the
view of the late Graham Webster, ‘Such a career (in museum
curatorship) is quite astonishing when one thinks of the lowly
academic base on which it was built. It was all achieved
by sheer hard work and an iron dete ~ 1ition. Inevitably
Kenneth made enemies with his forthright manner, but he
won friends as well and as the earliest of these I can but
admire such gutsy will-power and capacity for work from
first hand acquaintance at Chester. But he never ceased to
work in medieval pottery. His major and lasting contribution
has been to place it in its proper European setting through his
work in France and its effect on British potteries’ (Webster
1991, 5-6).

Kenneth is survived by his wife, Marilyn, and children,
Oliver, Tabitha and Benj: ' 1, with whom he shared his very
happy retirement in Normandy, and a new granddaughter,
Joan. He is also survived by his children from his first and
second marriages. Marilyn remembers him as a devoted
father, fully involved in the care and support of their
children and the 1 . of their home. Whether he was
caving in the Mendips, diving on the Mary Rose, teaching
his WEA classes, exploring the jungle in Brunei, cooking
in the kitchen or tending his vegetable patch, he brought
boundless energy to everything he ~°
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